# Essays on Household Demand and Agricultural Policy Implications in Developing Countries

Aimable Nsabimana

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Economics Uppsala

Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2018 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2018:38

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-7760-216-3 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-7760-217-0 © 2018 Aimable Nsabimana, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2018

#### Essays on Household Demand and Agricultural Policy Implications in Developing Countries

#### Abstract

This thesis comprises four papers that contribute to the economic literature in the area of food demand and agricultural policy related issues. Paper I examines the main forces driving farmers' decision to adopt modern agricultural inputs (MAI) in farming, and the effects on farm household welfare in Rwanda. Evidence from this study reveals that size of land endowment, access to farm credits and awareness of farm advisory services were the main driving factors behind MAI adoption. It was also found that adopting MAI significantly increased farm income, crop yield and household expenditure. This provides an indication that MAI adoption is the most consistent and potentially best pathway to reduce poverty among rural farmers. Paper II analyses the short and longterm effects of likely changes in rainfall on food crop prices in Rwanda. The results from this study identify that food crop prices are essentially vulnerable to rainfall shocks and that the effect is asymmetric in both the short and long-run. The analysis also revealed seasonal effects, with food prices falling significantly during the harvest season and rising thereafter. Further, the reliability of unit value (defined as expenditure by quantity) or community price (mostly gathered from local markets), both used to represent market prices when computing food demand elasticities, was investigated in Paper III using Tanzanian household data. A quadratic almost ideal demand system (QUAIDS) was created for nine food categories based on unit values and community prices. The results showed that expenditure elasticities from both prices appear to be almost similar. However, price elasticities from unit value and community prices displayed significant discrepancies. These findings suggest that, when opting to use these proxies for market prices, researchers should apply caution, particularly in accounting for quality variations and measurement errors in household reported prices and income. Finally, Paper IV presents the analysis of the food Engel curves and consumption patterns in Rwanda. The study results reveal that a large proportion of the average household food budget (more than 50%) is spent on cheap sources of calories (such as roots, tubers and cereals), resulting in unbalanced diets among members of Rwandan households. In particular, poor households, mostly in rural communities, appeared to spend almost nothing on protein food items (including meat). Overall, this thesis makes a series of novel contributions to the economic literature on food demand and agricultural policy for the under-explored continent of Africa. Improved understanding of rural and urban food consumption patterns can enable purposive and targeted food policies to be formulated.

Keywords: Modern agricultural inputs, Welfare effects, Food crop prices, Rainfall, Unit values, Community prices, Household demand, Food Engel Curves, Developing countries, Rwanda, Tanzania

Author's address: Aimable Nsabimana, SLU, Department of Economics, P.O. Box 7013, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden. E-mail: <u>aimable.nsabimana@slu.se</u>

# Dedication

To my wife Pétronille, children (Christelle, Chris and Kevin Aimable) To the memory of my late father (Mr. Habimana Canisius)

# Abbreviations and Acronyms

ATE	Average Treatment Effects
CPI	Consumer Price Index
EICV	Enquête Intégrale sur les Conditions de Vie des
	Ménages
ESR	Endogenous Switching Regression
FAO	United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization
FEC	Food Engel Curve
FIML	Full Information Maximum Likelihood
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
IFAD	International Fund for Agricultural Development
LSMS-	Living Standards Measurement Study-Integrated
ISA	Survey on Agriculture
MAI	Modern Agricultural Inputs
NARDL	Nonlinear Autoregressive Distributed Lag
NPS	National Panel Survey
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
	Development

Quadratic Almost Ideal Demand System
Recursive Bivariate Probability
Swedish International Development Agency
Sub-Saharan Africa
Tanzanian National Bureau of Statistics
United Nations World Food Program

# Contents

List of publications	6
1. Introduction	7
1.1 Background and research objectives	7
1.2 Context and scope	10
2. Methods	17
2.1 Data sources: Living Standard Measurement Surveys (LSMS)	
2.2 Research methods	19
3. Summary of the Papers I-IV	23
3.1 Paper I: Is change worth it? The effect of adopting modern agricultural inputs on household welfare in Rwanda	23
3.2 Paper II: Asymmetric effects of rainfall on food crop prices: Evidence fro Rwanda	om 24
3.3 Paper III: Analysis of household demand patterns using household data	.:
Re-thinking the use of unit values or community prices	25
3.4 Paper IV: Income and food Engel Curves in Rwanda: A household	
microdata analysis	26
4. Contribution of the Thesis	27
References	29
Acknowledgements	35

# List of publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

I. Nsabimana, A\*. (2017). Is change worth it? The effect of adopting modern agricultural inputs on household welfare in Rwanda (Revised & resubmitted to Agricultural Economics).

II. Nsabimana, A\*. and Habimana, O. (2017). Asymmetric effects of rainfall on food crop prices: Evidence from Rwanda. Environmental Economics (open-access) 8(3), 137-149.

III. Nsabimana, A\*., Mensah. J.T and Surry, Y. (2018). Analysis of household demand patterns using household data: Re-thinking the use of unit values or community prices (manuscript).

IV. Nsabimana, A\*., Bali Swain, R., Surry, Y. and Ngabitsinze, J.C. (2018). Income and food Engel Curves in Rwanda: A household microdata analysis (manuscript).

Paper I is reproduced with the permission of the publisher

\*Corresponding Author

# 1. Introduction

The use of modern agricultural inputs (including hybrid seeds, chemical fertilisers, pesticides etc.) in agriculture and the effects of predicted changes in the weather on crop food prices in Africa were investigated in this thesis. Characterisation of food demand and household consumption patterns was also examined. This introductory chapter describes the general context of the work, the research objectives, data sources and research methods.

#### 1.1 Background and research objectives

Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) is characterised by the highest proportion of undernourished people in the world, with more than 30% of the rural population experiencing chronic hunger (FAO, 2008; Schlenker et al., 2010). Poverty is also a long-standing challenge, with uneven economic progress across the region. Despite a reduction in the rate of malnutrition in SSA from 33% in 1990-1992 to 23% in 2014-2015, the rate remains high compared with that in other developing regions (FAO, IFAD and WFP, 2015). The state of poverty and slow progress towards food security in the region have been mainly ascribed to low farm productivity, very high population growth rates and political instability (OECD, 2016). However, although there are vast regional differences, there are some successful countries with stable political conditions, a growing economy and expanding productivity in the farm sector. This suggests that effective governance, together with good quality institutions and structural macroeconomic policies, can all work together to eradicate poverty and eventually improve food security in the region in a long-lasting and sustainable manner.

Agriculture can undoubtedly play an important role in structural transformation leading to economic growth and food security in Africa. The sector is the largest employer, an important foreign exchange earner and has the greatest potential for poverty reduction. It plays a pivotal role in employment opportunities, providing jobs for more than 60% of the total workforce (Chauvin et al., 2012). Rural households in general benefit from agriculture, but it is also the main source of livelihood for 10-25% of urban households in SSA (Yeboah & Jayne, 2015). However the majority of households in SSA are located in rural areas,

and for these agriculture, mostly subsistence farming, constitutes their main source of income for daily household livelihood (Diao et al., 2010; Smale et al., 2016; Alia, 2017). This is an indication that in SSA, macroeconomic performance has not been inclusive for the agricultural sector in general and for rural areas in particular. In addition, the productivity of the agricultural sector in Africa is low. This has been attributed partly to climate change, as farming practices are largely based on weather-sensitive agro-pastoral production systems (Stige et al., 2006). Due to the low use of modern inputs in economies heavily dependent on agriculture, the SSA region is predicted to be particularly hard hit by global warming, as it is already facing high temperatures and high variability in rainfall. For instance, it has been shown that weather variability has severe consequences and that dryland crop and livestock farmers are especially vulnerable, with temperature elasticities of -1.9 and -5.4, respectively (Kurukulasuriya et al., 2006). Hence, considering the central role of the agriculture sector and the unprecedented variations in climate anticipated in Africa over the coming decades (Washington et al., 2006; Christensen et al., 2007; Schlenker & Lobell, 2010), there is a urgent need to provide further empirical economic evidence on possible responses of climate change on crop production in SSA and of food prices in the region.

Despite low farm productivity, Africa has experienced very high population and income growth rates, coupled with intensified urbanisation over the past two decades. This has led to sharp changes in food demand. Furthermore, given that the population in SSA is expected to double by 2050 (UNDP, 2015), feeding poor households will remain a critical challenge. In this respect, not only will food demand continue to rise with increasing incomes, but the composition of food demand will also change and continuing urbanisation will contribute substantially to changes in diets (Melo et al., 2015). There is also a very important gap between food production and food consumption in Africa and this is attributable to the fact that most countries in SSA are failing to provide sufficient food and nutrition for their growing population (Chauvin et al., 2012). Therefore, understanding the composition of people's food demand and analysing the relationships between household income and food demand is paramount for designing food policies aimed at addressing malnutrition and upgrading food security in the African context.

The main motives of the work described in this thesis were to: (i) provide new insights into increasing farm productivity by adopting consistently modern agricultural inputs with the aim of improving the welfare of smallholders in Africa and hence eradicating chronic poverty; (ii) evaluate the potential impacts of climate variability on farm activities in Africa, where rain-fed farm systems remain farmers' main option for agricultural activities; (iii) assess the reliability

of using community prices or unit values when estimating elasticities; and (iv) characterise household consumption patterns taking into consideration household location. Over long historical periods in Africa, farmers have mainly relied on traditional farming systems. Now, however, intensive family labour, land and weather conditions (exogenous temperature/rainfall) have reached their limits in increasing farm production (Alia, 2017). Therefore, this thesis sought to identify ways to redress this by examining the intensity of modern agricultural input (MAI) adoption, weather variability and farm household welfare in SSA countries. It also sought to shed light on the driving forces for household food consumption patterns and the design of food policies in an African context. The following research objectives were formulated for the work:

i) Examine the effects of modern agricultural input adoption on the welfare of farmers.

ii) Explore how the likely changes in weather (rainfall) will affect food prices in Rwanda.

iii) Assess the reliability of unit values or community prices when analysing food demand patterns.

iv) Characterise the Engel curves of food staples and identify potential Engel curve modelling issues.

This thesis covers two broad aspects of the literature, namely agricultural development and food demand. Specifically, Papers I and II deal with farm input technology adoption and climate change. Paper I examines the driving factors that affect farmers' decision to adopt modern inputs and how this influences farmers' livelihood in Rwanda. Issues of climate risk and shocks have been identified as potential threats to poor and vulnerable households in developing countries, particularly in SSA (Holden & Quiggin, 2017). The most recent global climate change trends with associated extreme weather events are likely to continue. Their adverse effects will most likely affect farm yields and this might jeopardise the food supply that is needed to meet the demand from excessive population growth rate and urbanisation (Alston et al., 2010). The future distribution of rainfall is particularly important, as stochastic events like drought or rainstorms can cause severe damage to food crops, hence inducing drastic food price variability at the market level. Given these preconditions, Paper II investigated the potential effects of likely rainfall shocks on agriculture and how these unexpected changes are transmitted into agricultural food market prices in Rwanda.

Papers III and IV deal with food demand. Analysis of household food demand has received considerable attention in the economic literature, both in the context

of developed countries (Banks et al., 1997; Abdulai, 2002; Aepli & Finger, 2013; Aepli, 2014) and low-income counties (Abdulai & Aubert, 2004a; Boysen, 2016). The empirical estimates produced in these studies have been extremely useful in household welfare, poverty and nutritional related policies (Borlizzi et al., 2017; Subramanian & Deaton, 1996). To add to this research, Paper III assesses the reliability of unit values or community prices when computing price and/or income elasticities, by controlling for quality variations using Tanzanian household data. Finally, in Paper IV a detailed analysis of driving forces of disaggregated food demand in Rwanda was conducted. In that study, demand (different food Engel curves) was explored and estimated for the following disaggregated food categories: cereals, roots and tubers, vegetables, meat products, beverages and other food (including eating away from home).

#### 1.2 Context and scope

#### 1.2.1 Agricultural technology adoption and farm household welfare

Agriculture is still the economic mainstay in most developing economies. In SSA, farming activities engage about 60% of the workforce and contribute over 30% to gross domestic product (GDP) (Thornton et al., 2011). However, the agricultural sector in SSA continues to underperform. Farm production is extremely low compared with that in other regions of the world and productivity growth continues to be slow (Sheahan & Barrett, 2017). For instance, between 1961 and 2000, cereal yields fluctuated around 0.8 ton/ha and only experienced modest increases thereafter, to reach 1.3 ton/ha in 2014 (FAOSTAT, 2017). This level of yield represents less than half the cereal yield achieved in other developing countries and less than one-quarter of the yield in high-income countries (Rodrik, 2016; Alia, 2017). Based on these facts, together with current high population growth rates (Djurfeldt & Jirström, 2013), SSA needs to constantly increase crop productivity through farm technology adoption in order to meet the growing demand for food. Paper I sought to add to the existing economic literature concerning agricultural technology adoption. A number of recent studies have demonstrated that adoption of modern agricultural inputs in developing countries contributes to raising farm yields and reduces the level of poverty among farm households (Zeng et al., 2015; Abdulai, 2016). However, others argue that the adoption of MAI should involve a bundle of innovations instead of a single technology (Becerril & Abdulai, 2010). This means that potential benefits from the use of modern agricultural inputs can be realised only if the users integrate different farming practices (Abay et al., 2017). In addition, development policies in low-income countries in recent decades have sought to promote modern agricultural inputs use among small-scale farmers, in a bid to tackle poverty and its effects. This underscores the importance of technology diffusion for the agricultural revolution in the developing world.

In developing countries, farm yields are limited by a wide range of constraining forces. These include biophysical and agronomic constraints, and also socio-economic and institutional barriers (Diagne et al., 2013). Achieving optimal farm production under such constraints requires farmers to adopt modern agricultural technologies such as hybrid seeds, chemical fertilisers, herbicides, better ways of planting and weeding, and other improved soil and innovative watering techniques (Evenson & Gollin, 2003; Morris, 2007). Some of the shortfalls affecting smallholder agriculture, such as fundamental resource constraints (poverty), lack of market information among farmers, difficulties in market access and risk minimising attitudes of farmers, are often reported to be the major constraints to farm technology adoption (Kebede et al., 1990). In addition, adoption of agricultural technology innovation in developing countries is constrained by lack of appropriate agricultural credits, insufficient skilled human capital, inadequate incentives associated with farm tenure arrangements, a characteristically chaotic supply of complementary inputs (seeds, pesticides, chemicals and water) and inappropriate transportation infrastructure (Feder et al., 1985). The slow and low rate of agricultural innovation adoption is often linked with market failure and lack of adequate policy interventions (Feder & Umali, 1993). However, Conley and Udry (2010) claim that success requires fundamental changes in the ways in which innovations diffuse out to farmers.

From a farm productivity standpoint, there is a major difference between what smallholder farmers obtain in terms of yield and what is feasible under the optimal farm inputs available in SSA. The adoption of new technology would help maximise agricultural output. However, the only way smallholder farmers can benefit from new farming technologies is to apply them appropriately on farms (Muzari et al., 2012). Therefore, appropriate adoption of inputs in agriculture is considered to be the engine driving increases in farm productivity and farm income, and subsequently a reduction in poverty among rural household farmers. Moreover, the literature highlights the role of adoption of technology in poverty eradication. Agricultural technology in particular is regarded as a leading factor in reducing poverty and this can occur directly or indirectly. The direct effects of input use on poverty reduction are the productivity benefits gained by the farmers who directly adopt the technology (De Janvry & Sadoulet, 2002; Becerril & Abdulai, 2010). These benefits are manifested in the form of improvements in household food intake and health

status. When adopters reap the benefits from new technology, the resulting productivity provides additional indirect gains for others. These may include lower food prices, resulting in an increase in consumption for all households. Similarly, for poor people with limited land access, an increase in agricultural productivity will result in indirect gains. Moreover, the increased in productivity resulting from technology adoption could induce changes in cropping patterns and allocation of farmers' own resources to various other uses (Khanna, 2001; Kassie et al., 2011). Previous research in this area has focused mostly on the role of farm size, farm profitability, credit constraints, higher yield of seed varieties, modern breeding and dairy farming adoption (Abdulai & Huffman, 2005). However, some studies have emphasised the importance of farmers' capacity and decision making in learning how to use new techniques sustainably in farming (Ali & Abdulai, 2010; Conley & Udry, 2010; Asfaw et al., 2012; Abdulai, 2016). Abdulai (2016) assessed the potential factors and the impact of conservation agriculture technology adoption on farm household welfare in Zambia, while Asfaw et al. (2012) evaluated the effects of improved legume technology on rural household welfare in Ethiopia and Tanzania. Both studies report a substantial impact of adoption. Ali and Abdulai (2010) studied adoption of genetically modified cultivars in cotton farming on poverty reduction in Pakistan, while Conley and Udry (2010) analysed the role of social learning and agricultural production patterns for farm technology adoption in Ghana. These different empirical and theoretical studies have pointed out the positive impact of use of modern agricultural inputs on the wellbeing of rural poor farmers, but have also identified adoption behaviour and decisions by smallholder farmers on modern agricultural input use as a major research need. Paper I sought to meet this research need by deriving economic benefits of modern agricultural inputs for smallholder farmers and by examining whether adopting modern agricultural inputs is the most consistent and potentially best pathway to reduce poverty among rural farmers. The main findings from Paper I are described in detail in Section 3 of this thesis.

#### 1.2.2 Climate change and crop food prices

While Paper I focused on household MAI adoption decisions, Paper II examined the links between predicted changes in rainfall and crop food prices in SSA. In general, agriculture in most developing countries depends heavily on seasonal weather, as greenhouse farming and large-scale irrigation systems have yet to be implemented. The economics of food production and price dynamics clearly predict that food price will spike as a natural consequence of demand growth outpacing supply expansion and the unseen forces of climate change (Deaton & Laroque, 1992; Barrett, 2013). The latter is regarded as a major threat to global food production and is expected to exacerbate food insecurity in many parts of the world (Burke et al., 2015). Furthermore, it has been found that climate events played an important role in the surge in global food prices in 2008 (Ericksen et al., 2009).

In ongoing research on the relationship between climate change and agricultural development, there have been number of findings that reaffirm the direct causal relationship between climate change and farm yield distortions. The consequences of climate change, such as flooding, higher temperatures and unexpected frequent and extreme weather events, negatively affect food production, leading to a decrease in food supply and ultimately in higher prices. Moreover, it has been argued that climate change is linked to poverty traps in developing regions (Enfors & Gordon, 2008). Paper II presents an asymmetric investigation on how climate change, proxied by rainfall, explains crop food prices in Rwanda. In this context, using rainfall as a proxy for climate change is justified, especially in a landlocked country like Rwanda, where agriculture is mainly rain-fed and irrigation systems and farm mechanisation are almost non-existent.

According to Blanc (2012), the unexpected variability of temperature and rainfall in SSA has had substantial adverse effects on maize, millet, sorghum and cassava production in the region. A similar study investigating the effects of rainfall shocks on household welfare in Guatemala has shown that rainfall shocks increase poverty by 18% and reduce household food consumption by 10% (Baez et al., 2015). Moreover, the effects of climate change are likely to fall disproportionately on developing nations and on poorer, agrarian households within those nations (Jarvis et al., 2011; Wood et al., 2014). This implies that smallholder farmers who do not have any alternative income sources apart from subsistence farming are more likely to face adverse impacts of climate change.

Considering the ongoing threat of climate change and the evidence that its relative effect is greater in low-income countries (Tol, 2010), a clear understanding of the significance and magnitude of the effect of rainfall on food prices is of the utmost importance for policy making. However, there is limited empirical evidence in this regard. This leads to an important research question: How do food prices respond to precipitation changes? To examine this issue, the driving forces and vulnerability of food prices to weather shocks in Rwanda were explored in Paper II. The analysis examined the symmetric effects of rainfall on food couptry context like Rwanda, where a high proportion of household income is

spent on food and where crop production relies heavily on rain-fed farming. More results discussions are provided in section 3 of the thesis.

1.2.3 Income and price elasticities: Use of unit values or community prices

Living conditions have changed dramatically in developing countries, thanks to the quantum leaps achieved in innovative production systems and in technology. In particular, food consumption has radically increased, at an unprecedented pace, a change driven by population, economic growth and rapid urbanisation<sup>1</sup>. However, in these low-income economies, poverty rates and prevalence of undernourishment are still considerable. For instance, the World Bank (2012) reported that inadequate access to food in SSA affects 47% of the population. This underscores the need for more extensive and accurate research, based on detailed and differentiated estimates of household food consumption patterns. Considering all these facts, and given that only a few studies on household food demand have been undertaken in context of SSA (e.g. Abdulai & Aubert, 2004b; Muhammad et al., 2011; Boysen, 2016), there is a need to provide more evidence for this diverse region.

Furthermore, in the design of comprehensive poverty and nutritional food policies, clear and consistent estimates of price and income elasticities, often derived from estimation of food demand systems, are required. The problem is that there are very few household surveys in developing countries reporting prices of goods and services at which the households purchase these items, thereby constraining their usefulness in demand analysis. To this end, Timmer and Alderman (1979) suggested the use of unit values (defined by dividing household expenditure by quantity) as a proxy for market prices. Since then, numerous empirical estimates have relied solely on unit values to derive price and income elasticities (Banks et al., 1997; Abdulai, 2002; Boysen, 2016). However, using unit values without any adjustments may lead to biased estimates, due to differences in commercial forms of commodities (e.g. cassava flour and roots, maize flour or grain). It is therefore possible that any differences detected could potentially result from diet composition, and diet composition

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> According to FAO (2013, 2017), massive rural-urban migrations in developing countries, substantial increases in per capita food consumption (expressed in kcal/person/day), increases in income inequality and recurrent climate shocks across the globe all have led to enormous food shortfalls in most developing countries.

may vary across households and regions (Deaton & Dupriez, 2011; Boysen, 2016). Furthermore, household survey data are usually marred by errors in income and expenditure data (Deaton, 1997). Therefore, using unit values without accounting for the errors in reported household income and expenditure may further bias the estimates.

An alternative approach to gathering data on prices in household surveys is the use of community prices. Relying on the assumption of one price in local markets, prices of respective items within a given location (often the primary sampling units) are collected and referred to as community prices. This approach is seen as relatively more robust as price imputations based on unit values. However, using community prices might also induce a number of potential biases. First, the prices may not conform to the true prices encountered by sampled households in the community of interest. For instance, the household may purchase the good outside their residential cluster or not consume it at all. Thus unless carefully handled, use of community prices might lead to more severe errors than use of unit values. To investigate this issue, the reliability of community prices or unit values when analysing food demand patterns was assessed in Paper III. The analysis revisited the work of Gibson and Rozelle (2011), who evaluated the reliability of unit values and community prices when estimating consumer demand and how this can affect policy analysis. To my knowledge, Paper II is the first study to evaluate the use of unit values and community prices in an African context. The empirical material comprised household survey data from Tanzania where, as in other low-income countries, a large proportion of household income is spent on food consumption.

#### 1.2.4 Household food Engel curves in the context of developing countries

The problems of food insecurity and malnutrition are common key issues in SSA. For instance, the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) reported in 2017 that SSA is one of the regions in the world with the largest number of hungry people (233 million). The World Bank (2012) found that over 47% of the total population in SSA lives on \$1.90 a day or less, a driving factor in widespread hunger in the region, where one person in four is undernourished. The high malnutrition prevalence has been largely attributed to household income being too low to meet the required minimum calories and nutrient levels (Melo et al., 2015).

Besides these general common trends on food consumption patterns, it has also been shown that there are important differences in dietary composition and food supply structures across household locations in SSA (Fabiosa, 2011). These differences often affect the relationship between household income and food demand, hence affecting alternative allocations of household income. Analysing the driving factors of food demand taking into account household location (rural or urban) is very useful, especially in light of intensive urbanisation, income and population growth, to reveal the impact of household location on food demand patterns and possible policy interventions for food insecurity and malnutrition. Such an analysis is described in Paper IV. The following section provides more details on the estimation procedures and methods used.

## 2. Methods

# 2.1 Data sources: Living Standard Measurement Surveys (LSMS)

Data from household surveys are extremely important to development economists seeking to measure consumer behaviour, welfare and poverty. Such data have been extensively used in testing theories about household behaviour and in discovering how people respond to changes in the economic environment in which they live. Specifically, the Living Standards Measurement Surveys (LSMS) conducted by the World Bank have been very valuable in collecting data on a wide range of household characteristics and activities, from household composition and distribution of resource endowments to all types of economic transactions (Deaton, 1997). Furthermore, these types of data have been highly important in the context of developing countries, due to lack of long-time data series, to cast light on a range of policy issues. More importantly, they have been used to analyse household consumption patterns and individual welfare (Deaton et al., 1992; Deaton, 1997; Abdulai & Aubert, 2004b; Boysen, 2016).

Three of the papers on which this thesis is based (Papers I, III and IV) involved household surveys in the context of SSA. The empirical analysis focused specifically on two countries in SSA, Rwanda and Tanzania. The dataset for Rwanda was mainly extracted from the Integrated Household Living Conditions surveys (Enquête Intégrale sur les Conditions de Vie des Ménages of Rwanda (EICV 3 and EICV 4 in French). The two surveys used in this thesis provide information on changes in household well-being such as poverty, inequality, employment, education, health and housing conditions and household consumption patterns. These surveys have been implemented by the National Institute of Statistics of Rwanda (NISR) with the World Bank and EU providing financial and technical supports. Surveys EICV3 (2010/2011) and EICV4 (2013/2014) were chosen for analysis in this thesis work as they represent the most recent and fully cleaned data from NISR.

In examining the potential household welfare effects of modern farm technology adoption in Paper I, EICV3 data were used. That survey encompassed the entire country of Rwanda, divided into four provinces. The South, East and West provinces accounted for 31%, 28% and 21%, respectively, of sampled households used in the present study and the Northern province represented 19% of the sample<sup>2</sup>. The sample selected was restricted to households with farm activities, to ensure that all households in farm technology adopting and non-adopting groups had engaged in farming economic activities in the 12 months before the survey was conducted (see Paper I, Table 1). EICV3 provides information on household farm income, farm productivity and poverty level. The total sample size used in Paper I was 4090 households, with the proportion of adopters and non-adopters being 55% and 45%, respectively<sup>3</sup>.

In Paper II, monthly average price data on beans, potatoes and cassava roots obtained from the NISR for the period 2000-2012 were used. These are nominal retail prices that prevail on the markets in the country. From these nominal prices, real prices were computed using the consumer price index (CPI), taking January 2005 as the base. To measure the impacts of the likely changes in rainfall on food crop market prices, food price data were merged with monthly data series on rainfall from the World Bank's climate change knowledge portal over the same period.

To assess the reliability of community prices or unit values when analysing food demand patterns, in Paper III data from the third wave of the Tanzanian National Panel Survey (NPS) were employed. The NPS is part of an ongoing Living Standards Measurement Study-Integrated Survey on Agriculture (LSMS-ISA) by the Tanzanian Bureau of Statistics (TNBS) with assistance from the World Bank. The data cover 4416 sampled households from all regions of the

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  To minimise the bias, city dwellers were removed as the main focus was on farming, which is mainly undertaken by rural inhabitants.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The final sample was decided after removing all farm households with incomplete information and data cleaning.

Tanzanian mainland. The sampled households were stratified into three broad regional categories. These were: the Dar-es-salaam area, represented by 770 households; other urban areas with 883 households; and rural areas represented by 2763 households. However, after data cleaning, data on a total of 1765 households remained for the analysis. This was mainly due to lack of basic information on household food expenditure. It is important to highlight that the main purpose of Paper III was to derive and compare price and expenditure responses using both unit values and community prices. Hence, the restriction of having households with sufficient information to compute the two set of prices was imposed.

Furthermore, to characterise household food consumption patterns and identify the heterogeneity of food demand between rural and urban households, EICV4 data (conducted 2013/2014) were used in Paper IV. A sample of 14,172 households was selected, comprising 11,660 rural and 2,512 urban households, representing 82.2% and 17.8% of the total sample, respectively. The data cover the entire country, including its four provinces and the city of Kigali. Southern province accounted for 27% of all sampled households, Eastern province for 24%, Western province 23%, Northern province 16% and the city of Kigali 10%. To account for the effects of differences in household composition, the following demographic and household variables were used: age of household head, household size, number of adult members in household, education level of both household head and spouse, proportions of household members aged below 6 years, between 7 and 16 years, between 17 and 59 years, and 60 years or more, a dummy of whether the household has non-farm business or not, and a dummy defining monogamous household head. These variables are known to have a potential influence on household preferences and food expenditure decisions.

#### 2.2 Research methods

The empirical analyses reported in this thesis were conducted using different methods and econometric estimation techniques. Each of the methods used relies on economic principles and a quantitative framework and all were used to measure farm household welfare and agricultural policies in African countries, with particular emphasis on Rwanda and Tanzania.

Paper I sought to identify factors that affect farmers' decision to adopt modern agricultural inputs and how it influences household welfare by using endogenous

switching regression (ESR) and recursive bivariate probit (RBP) models to account simultaneously for self-selection and unobserved heterogeneity of adopters and non-adopters. The ESR approach makes it possible to control for farm household unobserved heterogeneity (unobservable farm and household characteristics that may be correlated with the outcome variables). To estimate the endogenous switching model, the full information maximum likelihood (FIML) estimation approach (Lokshin & Sajaia, 2004) was used to simultaneously fit the adoption decision and derive welfare effects. While the ESR approach can only be applied when the outcome is a continuous variable, the RBP model can be used in the case of a binary outcome. Thus in order to estimate jointly the effects of adoption decision and the impact of modern agricultural input use on farm household poverty level, both of which are binary outcomes, a recursive bivariate probit model was used.

Paper II investigated the transmission of rainfall changes to food crop prices, in particular whether there is an asymmetric knock-on effect of rainfall on food prices. For this, the Nonlinear Autoregressive Distributed Lag (NARDL) model was employed. This is a generalization of the Autoregressive Distributed Lag (ARDL) bounds testing approach (Pesaran et al., 2001), which incorporates an error correction mechanism and allows estimation of asymmetric long-run and short-run dynamic coefficients in a co-integration framework.

In Paper III, a theoretical framework based on standard consumer theory was applied to examine the differences and similarities between unit values and community prices. A quasi-concave utility function of the sampled household and fully choice behaviour of each household to gain utility from any demand at a given limited household income were assumed. It was also assumed that the amount of food consumed by each household and the quality choice are both functions of food market prices, household income and other economic factors. Quadratic Almost Ideal Demand Systems (QAIDS; Banks et al., 1997) were derived. Furthermore, to deal with the issue of censored household data, the Shonkwiler and Yen (1999) technique was applied. An additional assumption was that households make food expenditure decisions in a two-stage procedure. In the first stage, households decide on whether to purchase or not purchase each of the food items. In the second stage, they decide how much to spend on each item, conditional on a positive purchase decision from the first stage. In Paper III, the first stage was estimated using a probit model that describes consumption selection decisions. The predicted estimates from the first stage were used to generate the cumulative distribution function (cdf) and probability density function (pdf), and were augmented in the QUAIDS equation in the second stage.

The use of household data in analysing household demand raises the issue of quality effects. Using unit values to represent market prices has caused concern and debate among economists. The use of raw unit values may induce measurement errors and biased estimates. A number of studies have even revealed that expenditures and quantities, used to derive unit values, are usually contaminated by e.g. differences in forms of commodities (e.g. cassava flour and roots, maize flour or grain) or differences potentially resulting from diet composition, which may vary across households and regions (Deaton & Dupriez, 2011). To deal with these biases in unit values, two approaches have been proposed. First, Cox and Wohlgenant (1986) suggest that the quality effects and measurement error of unit values can be corrected by regressing proxies of quality variations (like household size, education of household head, ratio of household dependency members etc.) on the unit values. This makes it possible to have quality-adjusted prices that vary across households (Aepli, 2014). However, others have suggested that, in addition to the Cox and Wohlgenant (1986) correction, for households to face the same price they should be at least in the same region, and propose a new approach to find quality-adjusted prices at the regional level (Majumder et al., 2012; Aepli & Finger, 2013). Paper III followed the Cox and Wohlgenant approach, but extended it as suggested by Majumder et al. (2012).

In Paper IV, quadratic food Engel curves were estimated. The dependent variables were entirely expressed in terms of proportion spent on the goods in total household expenditure (food budget-share), to capture a range of functional forms. Therefore, the dependent variables were household expenditure on each of six food groups (cereals, roots and tubers, vegetables, meat, beverages, and other food) as a share of total household food consumption. To estimate the quadratic food Engel curves of food groups, three critical estimation issues were accounted for. These were: variable measurement errors. zero household expenditure and the presence of extreme values (outliers) in household expenditure. The approach of Hausman et al. (1995) was used to deal with variable measurement errors in the household expenditure data. The issue of zero household expenditure is another pitfall that could cause biased estimates if not accounted for. Several factors can lead to zero household expenditure, including infrequency of household purchases, data misreporting and variation in preferences across sampled households (Deaton & Irish, 1984; Keen, 1986). In Paper IV, it was assumed that the first two reasons for occurrence of zero expenditure are exogenous and therefore only the third motive was considered. It was thus assumed that zero expenditure arises only if the individual household does not purchase any of a particular food item. However, deriving food Engel curves may induce endogeneity threats that arise when expenditure share on food is regressed on total household expenditure (Hausman et al., 1995). More specifically, a simultaneous decision on using household expenditure together with allocation to each food group can lead to the former becoming endogenous. One of the best solutions is to use an instrumental variable, but a major challenge is in obtaining good instruments. Household income was used in Paper IV, since it is considered an appropriate instrument for expenditure and has been used in a significant number of Engel curve studies (Banks et al., 1997; Bhalotra & Attfield, 1998; Blundell et al., 1998; Blundell et al., 2007; Hasan & Mozumder, 2017). In addition, another useful aspect of using income as the instrumental variable for household expenditure is that the two are highly correlated and, in two-stage budgeting, household income does not have a direct effect on expenditure shares, an indication of a valid instrument. Different statistical tests were carried out to examine the validity of the instrument. The following section gives a summary of Papers I-IV with more details on results discussion.

# 3. Summary of the Papers I-IV

# 3.1 Paper I: Is change worth it? The effect of adopting modern agricultural inputs on household welfare in Rwanda

Adoption of efficient farm practices has been proven to have a direct link to economic well-being in many developing countries, mostly in SSA, with existing evidence indicating that agricultural technology adoption increases farm yields and, importantly, is critical in achieving goals of food security and poverty alleviation in SSA (Ersado et al., 2004; Abdulai & Huffman, 2014). Using Rwandan farm household data from EICV3 (2010/2011), comparative average values between adopters and non-adopters for farm income, farm yield, per capita consumption and poverty index were derived in Paper I. Analysis of descriptive statistics revealed significant differences between farmers who adopted technology and those who did not. However, the differences obtained were not sufficient to conclude that adopters of modern agricultural inputs are better off than non-adopters, since the comparison did not account for unobserved characteristics and self-selection bias among farmers. Therefore, factors affecting farmers' adoption decisions and subsequent welfare implications were analysed using an endogenous switching regression model (for continuous outcomes) and recursive bivariate probit model (for the binary outcome) to simultaneously account for both the self-selection problem and unobserved heterogeneity forces.

Analysing factors that influence adoption of modern agricultural inputs revealed useful and interesting results. Specifically, household and farm characteristics, such as farm credits, farm size and land consolidation practices were found to have a significant positive effect in increasing the probability of a household adopting modern agricultural inputs. Access to agricultural credits made farmers less liquidity-constrained, hence increasing their likelihood to adopt modern agricultural inputs, which subsequently led to potential changes in farm income, yield and consumption levels. However, while modern agricultural input adoption reduced poverty, the effect was not statistically different from zero. In general, the results showed that farm households that have adopted modern agricultural inputs are always better off from adopting than not adopting, and that non-adopters are still worse off when not adopting than adopting. Specifically, the estimates for average treatment effects showed that the impact of modern agricultural input adoption induces significant causal positive effects on farm income, farm yield and consumption per capita, by as much as 72%, 52% and 32%, respectively. These findings are consistent with the existing literature, which reports that new agricultural technology improves farm yield and farm income for smallholder farmers (see Minten & Barrett, 2008; Abdulai & Huffman, 2014).

# 3.2 Paper II: Asymmetric effects of rainfall on food crop prices: Evidence from Rwanda

The vast majority of households in developing countries are located in rural areas and still depend on agriculture as their main source of livelihood. However, agriculture in these countries is strongly dependent on climate variables such as temperature and precipitation. The consequences of climate change such as flooding, higher temperatures and unexpected frequent and extreme weather events will negatively affect food production, hence leading to a decrease in food supply and ultimately in higher prices. For instance, Baez et al. (2015) investigated the effects of rainfall shocks on household welfare and indicated that there is a substantial negative impact of shocks in precipitation, with the effect being particularly high among urban households. They also found that rainfall shocks increase poverty by 18% and reduce household food consumption by 10%. Similarly, in a study by Sassi and Cardaci (2013), who investigated the consequences of different rainfall scenarios on food availability in Sudan, a strong relationship was found between climate change and income variability, poverty and food shortage.

Despite these concerns about the effect of climate change on economic losses and social welfare impacts, few studies have been undertaken in the East African region and particularly in Rwanda. Therefore Paper II fills this gap and provides an empirical base that is potentially relevant for policy decisions. It investigated the dynamic and asymmetric effects of rainfall on food crop prices (beans, cassava roots and Irish potatoes) with an application to Rwanda, a landlocked country with rain-fed agriculture. The analysis revealed strong associations between rainfall shocks and asymmetric variations (positive or negative) in food crop prices, with these effects being expressed in both the short and long run. The analysis also revealed that the negative shocks in rainfall are transmitted to crop prices with substantially greater intensity than positive shocks in rainfall. In particular, the negative long-run elasticity of rainfall shocks on cassava root prices was roughly 32 percentage points higher than that of positive rainfall shocks. There was also evidence of seasonality, whereby prices fall during the harvest season and rise thereafter. This highlights the necessity for crop storage systems in Rwanda to help smooth food prices across the agricultural year.

#### 3.3 Paper III: Analysis of household demand patterns using household data: Re-thinking the use of unit values or community prices

In developing countries, where time series data are rarely compiled at household level, economists and other food policy-makers rely mostly on Living Standards Measurement Surveys (LSMS), usually conducted by the national statistical bureau in different countries together with technical and financial assistance from the World Bank, to derive price and income elasticities. The problem with this approach is that most household surveys rarely report prices of goods and services at which the household purchased the items in developing countries, hence constraining the usefulness of the data in demand analysis. To design effective food policy and assess household consumption behaviour, economists usually employ unit values or community prices, both considered as proxies for market prices, to estimate price elasticities. Although a significant number of studies on household consumption analysis have been undertaken using one of these two prices, little attention has been paid to the sources and reliability of the price data. Therefore Paper III examined similarities and discrepancies in income and price elasticities using unit values and community prices in the context of SSA, using the example of Tanzania where a large share of household income is still spent on food items.

The results from nine food groups (cereals, starches, sugar, nuts, vegetables, fruits, meat, milk and edible oil products) revealed that expenditure elasticities from both prices were similar in both size and sign. However, the estimates of price elasticities from both approaches showed significant discrepancies. These deviations may mainly result from community prices if survey enumerators do not consider the probability of consumers bargaining. In that case, community prices could be expected to be considerably higher than the unit values reported by households after bargaining with sellers. It is therefore suggested that, prior

to use of household data to compute price and income elasticities, analysts should carefully account for possible data noise that may lead to biased estimates.

#### 3.4 Paper IV: Income and food Engel Curves in Rwanda: A household microdata analysis

Food demand in low-income countries has steadily increased over recent decades. Specifically, high population and income growth rates coupled with intensified urbanisation have significantly altered dietary habits, and this has caused rapid changes in food demand in SSA (Melo et al., 2015).

Sub-Saharan Africa is known as one of the poorest regions in the world, where the poverty rate and malnutrition prevalence are higher than in other developing countries. In fact, according to FAO (2017), SSA is the region in the world with the largest number (233 million) of hungry people. Moreover, World Bank (2012) reported that over 47% of the total population in SSA lived on \$1.90 a day or less, a driving factor causing widespread hunger in the region. However, as in other developing countries, food demand has increased exponentially over recent years in SSA. In Paper IV, new evidence to improve understanding of household consumption trends in Rwanda was obtained by deriving the associations between household income, food expenditure and expenditures on specific food types (cereals, roots, tubers, vegetables, meat, beverages and other foods). The results revealed that unconditional expenditure elasticities are relatively higher for rural than urban households, indicating that Rwandan rural areas tend to have poorer households than urban areas. That is, as total expenditure increases, rural households raise their expenditure on food more proportionally than urban households and this increase in expenditure is mostly on low-value staples, starches and cereal products. The results also revealed that there are important differences in dietary composition and food supply structures across household locations in Rwanda. In addition, the study confirmed earlier findings that low-income countries spend a greater proportion on their budget on food, as necessity commodities (Muhammad et al., 2011). These findings are useful, especially in a developing country like Rwanda with emerging intense urbanisation, income and population growth rates. Importantly, they reveal the impact of household location on food demand patterns and the possible policy interventions on food insecurity and malnutrition. Hence, a good understanding of rural and urban food consumption patterns would provide more insights into purposive and targeted food policies in many SSA and other developing regions.

## 4. Contribution of the Thesis

The results presented in this thesis make novel contributions to the economic literature, particularly in the area of agricultural economics, climate change, development and food economics. In the area of agricultural economics, Paper I identified the driving forces that influence farmers' decision to adopt modern agricultural inputs, such as hybrid seeds, fertilisers and pesticides. It also revealed the underlying effects of using modern agricultural inputs on farm income, yield, household consumption per capita and poverty level of smallholder farmers in rural Rwanda. In addition, it uncovered heterogeneity effects between adopters and non-adopters of modern agricultural inputs, using endogenous switching regression and bivariate recursive probit models that compared estimates between two groups while accounting for both observed and unobserved farm and household characteristics.

In the area of climate change, Paper II identified asymmetric effects of rainfall on food crop prices, which is particularly useful information for poor countries, including Rwanda, where a high proportion of household income is still spent on food and crop products rely heavily on rain-fed farming. Unlike previous studies, Paper II determined the driving forces and vulnerability of food prices (cassava roots, beans and potatoes) to weather shocks by considering non-linear and asymmetric effects. The use of asymmetric non-linear autoregressive distributed lag (NARDL) to analyse the effects of likely changes in rainfall on food crop prices is a distinct novel contribution to the literature.

In the area of development economics, Paper III contributes in two ways to existing literature on deriving elasticities using surveyed prices. The study reassessed the reliability of using community prices or unit values when analysing food demand patterns, by revisiting earlier works (Gibson & Rozelle, 2005, 2011) and determining how selection can affect policy analysis. To my knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate the use of unit values or community

prices in an African (Tanzanian) context. Second, unlike Gibson and Rozelle (2011), who used a linear system of equations, a complete nonlinear demand system approach was applied in Paper III to estimate the demand for food commodities. In this context, a quadratic almost ideal demand system (QUAIDS) developed by Banks et al. (1997) was applied to determine non-linear Engel curves in household food demand analysis.

Paper IV makes a distinctive contribution in the area of food economics, by using nationwide household expenditure survey data to derive food Engel curves for major food expenditure categories in Rwanda. The underlying factors in household food demand were derived while taking into consideration the household location (rural or urban). The results revealed the impact of household location on food demand patterns and possible policy interventions to enhance food security and reverse malnutrition. This is very useful information, especially in developing countries like Rwanda with emerging intensive urbanisation, income and population growth. A good understanding of rural and urban food consumption patterns would enable purposive and targeted food policies to be formulated.

### References

- ABAY, K. A., BERHANE, G., TAFFESSE, A. S., ABAY, K. & KORU, B. 2017. Estimating Input Complementarities with Unobserved Heterogeneity: Evidence from Ethiopia. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*.
- ABDULAI, A. 2002. Household demand for food in Switzerland. A quadratic almost ideal demand system. *Revue Suisse D Economie Et De Statistique*, 138, 1-18.
- ABDULAI, A. & AUBERT, D. 2004a. A cross-section analysis of household demand for food and nutrients in Tanzania. *Agricultural Economics*, 31, 67-79.
- ABDULAI, A. & AUBERT, D. 2004b. Nonparametric and parametric analysis of calorie consumption in Tanzania. *Food Policy*, 29, 113-129.
- ABDULAI, A. & HUFFMAN, W. 2014. The adoption and impact of soil and water conservation technology: An endogenous switching regression application. *Land Economics*, 90, 26-43.
- ABDULAI, A. & HUFFMAN, W. E. 2005. The diffusion of new agricultural technologies: The case of crossbred-cow technology in Tanzania. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 87, 645-659.
- ABDULAI, A. N. 2016. Impact of conservation agriculture technology on household welfare in Zambia. *Agricultural economics*, 47, 729-741.
- AEPLI, M. 2014. Consumer demand for alcoholic beverages in Switzerland: a twostage quadratic almost ideal demand system for low, moderate, and heavy drinking households. *Agricultural and Food Economics*, 2, 15.
- AEPLI, M. & FINGER, R. 2013. Determinants of sheep and goat meat consumption in Switzerland. *Agricultural and food economics*, 1, 11.
- ALI, A. & ABDULAI, A. 2010. The adoption of genetically modified cotton and poverty reduction in Pakistan. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 61, 175-192.
- ALIA, D. Y. 2017. Agricultural Input Intensification, Productivity Growth, and the Transformation of African Agriculture. *Theses and Dissertations--Agricultural Economics*, 59.
- ALSTON, J. M., BEDDOW, J. M. & PARDEY, P. G. 2010. Global patterns of crop yields and other partial productivity measures and prices. *The*

*shifting patterns of agricultural production and productivity worldwide*, 39-61.

- ASFAW, S., SHIFERAW, B., SIMTOWE, F. & LIPPER, L. 2012. Impact of modern agricultural technologies on smallholder welfare: Evidence from Tanzania and Ethiopia. *Food policy*, 37, 283-295.
- BAEZ, J., LUCCHETTI, L., GENONI, M. & SALAZAR, M. 2015. Gone with the storm: rainfall shocks and household well-being in Guatemala. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 7177.
- BANKS, J., BLUNDELL, R. & LEWBEL, A. 1997. Quadratic Engel curves and consumer demand. *Review of Economics and statistics*, 79, 527-539.
- BARRETT, C. B. 2013. *Food security and sociopolitical stability*, Oxford University Press.
- BECERRIL, J. & ABDULAI, A. 2010. The impact of improved maize varieties on poverty in Mexico: a propensity score-matching approach. *World development*, 38, 1024-1035.
- BHALOTRA, S. & ATTFIELD, C. 1998. Intrahousehold resource allocation in rural Pakistan: a semiparametric analysis. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 463-480.
- BLANC, É. 2012. The impact of climate change on crop yields in Sub-Saharan Africa. *American Journal of Climate Change*, 1, 1-13.
- BLUNDELL, R., CHEN, X. & KRISTENSEN, D. 2007. Semi-Nonparametric IV Estimation of Shape-Invariant Engel Curves. *Econometrica*, 75, 1613-1669.
- BLUNDELL, R., DUNCAN, A. & PENDAKUR, K. 1998. Semiparametric estimation and consumer demand. *Journal of applied econometrics*, 435-461.
- BORLIZZI, A., DELGROSSI, M. E. & CAFIERO, C. 2017. National food security assessment through the analysis of food consumption data from Household Consumption and Expenditure Surveys: The case of Brazil's Pesquisa de Orçamento Familiares 2008/09. *Food Policy*, 72, 20-26.
- BOYSEN, O. 2016. Food demand characteristics in Uganda: Estimation and policy relevance. *South African Journal of Economics*, 84, 260-293.
- BURKE, M., HSIANG, S. M. & MIGUEL, E. 2015. Global non-linear effect of temperature on economic production. *Nature*, 527, 235-239.
- CHAUVIN, N. D., MULANGU, F. & PORTO, G. 2012. Food production and consumption trends in sub-Saharan Africa: Prospects for the transformation of the agricultural sector. *UNDP Regional Bureau for Africa: New York, NY, USA*.
- CHRISTENSEN, J. H., HEWITSON, B., BUSUIOC, A., CHEN, A., GAO, X., HELD, R., JONES, R., KOLLI, R. K., KWON, W. & LAPRISE, R. 2007. Regional climate projections. *Climate Change, 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, University Press, Cambridge, Chapter 11.*
- CONLEY, T. G. & UDRY, C. R. 2010. Learning about a new technology: Pineapple in Ghana. *American economic review*, 100, 35-69.

- COX, T. L. & WOHLGENANT, M. K. 1986. Prices and quality effects in crosssectional demand analysis. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 68, 908-919.
- DE JANVRY, A. & SADOULET, E. 2002. World poverty and the role of agricultural technology: direct and indirect effects. *Journal of development studies*, 38, 1-26.
- DEATON, A. 1997. *The analysis of household surveys: a microeconometric approach to development policy*, Washington D.C, World Bank Publications.
- DEATON, A. & DUPRIEZ, O. 2011. Spatial price differences within large countries. *Manuscript, Princeton University, July*.
- DEATON, A., GRIMARD, F. & MUNDIAL, B. 1992. Demand analysis and tax reform in Pakistan, Washington, D.C, World Bank.
- DEATON, A. & IRISH, M. 1984. Statistical models for zero expenditures in household budgets. *Journal of Public Economics*, 23, 59-80.
- DEATON, A. & LAROQUE, G. 1992. On the behaviour of commodity prices. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 59, 1-23.
- DIAGNE, A., ALIA, D. Y., AMOVIN-ASSAGBA, E., WOPEREIS, M. C., SAITO, K. & NAKELSE, T. 2013. Farmer perceptions of the biophysical constraints to rice production in sub-Saharan Africa, and potential impact of research. *Realizing Africa's Rice Promise*, 46-68.
- DIAO, X., HAZELL, P. & THURLOW, J. 2010. The role of agriculture in African development. *World development*, 38, 1375-1383.
- DJURFELDT, A. A. & JIRSTRÖM, M. 2013. Urbanization and changes in farm size in Sub-Saharan Africa and Asia from a geographical perspective, a review of the literature. *Background Paper for the ISPC Foresight Study* on Farm Size and Urbanization. Available from: (<u>http://www</u>. sciencecouncil. cgiar. org/sections/strategy-trends)(accessed 06.02. 13).
- ENFORS, E. I. & GORDON, L. J. 2008. Dealing with drought: The challenge of using water system technologies to break dryland poverty traps. *Global Environmental Change*, 18, 607-616.
- ERICKSEN, P. J., INGRAM, J. S. & LIVERMAN, D. M. 2009. Food security and global environmental change: emerging challenges. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 12, 373-377.
- ERSADO, L., AMACHER, G. & ALWANG, J. 2004. Productivity and land enhancing technologies in northern Ethiopia: Health, public investments, and sequential adoption. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 86, 321-331.
- EVENSON, R. E. & GOLLIN, D. 2003. Assessing the impact of the Green Revolution, 1960 to 2000. *science*, 300, 758-762.
- FABIOSA, J. 2011. Globalisation and trends in food consumption. Chapter 23 in. In: LUSK, R. A. S. (ed.) The Oxford Handbook of The Economics of Food Consumption and Politics. Oxford Uiversity Press: The Oxford Handbook of The Economics of Food Consumption and Politics.
- FAOSTAT. 2017. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Statistical database.

- FAO, IFAD and WFP .2015. The State of Food Insecurity in the World 2015. Meeting the 2015 international hunger targets: taking stock of uneven progress, Food and Agriculture Organization Publications, Rome.
- FAO .2008. The State of Food Insecurity in the World 2008 FAO, Rome, Italy, p 59
- FEDER, G., JUST, R. E. & ZILBERMAN, D. 1985. Adoption of agricultural innovations in developing countries: A survey. *Economic development* and cultural change, 33, 255-298.
- FEDER, G. & UMALI, D. L. 1993. The adoption of agricultural innovations: a review. *Technological forecasting and social change*, 43, 215-239.
- GIBSON, J. & ROZELLE, S. 2005. Prices and unit values in poverty measurement and tax reform analysis. *The World Bank Economic Review*, 19, 69-97.
- GIBSON, J. & ROZELLE, S. 2011. The effects of price on household demand for food and calories in poor countries: are our databases giving reliable estimates? *Applied Economics*, 43, 4021-4031.
- HASAN, S. A. & MOZUMDER, P. 2017. Income and energy use in Bangladesh: A household level analysis. *Energy Economics*, 65, 115-126.
- HAUSMAN, J. A., NEWEY, W. K. & POWELL, J. L. 1995. Nonlinear errors in variables estimation of some Engel curves. *Journal of Econometrics*, 65, 205-233.
- HOLDEN, S. T. & QUIGGIN, J. 2017. Climate risk and state-contingent technology adoption: shocks, drought tolerance and preferences. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, 44, 285-308.
- JARVIS, A., LAU, C., COOK, S., WOLLENBERG, E., HANSEN, J., BONILLA, O. & CHALLINOR, A. 2011. An integrated adaptation and mitigation framework for developing agricultural research: synergies and trade-offs. *Experimental Agriculture*, 47, 185-203.
- KASSIE, M., SHIFERAW, B. & MURICHO, G. 2011. Agricultural technology, crop income, and poverty alleviation in Uganda. *World Development*, 39, 1784-1795.
- KEBEDE, Y., GUNJAL, K. & COFFIN, G. 1990. Adoption of new technologies in Ethiopian agriculture: The case of Tegulet-Bulga district Shoa province. *Agricultural economics*, 4, 27-43.
- KEEN, M. 1986. Zero expenditures and the estimation of Engel curves. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 1, 277-286.
- KHANNA, M. 2001. Sequential adoption of site-specific technologies and its implications for nitrogen productivity: A double selectivity model. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 83, 35-51.
- KURUKULASURIYA, P., MENDELSOHN, R., HASSAN, R., BENHIN, J., DERESSA, T., DIOP, M., EID, H. M., FOSU, K. Y., GBETIBOUO, G. & JAIN, S. 2006. Will African agriculture survive climate change? *The World Bank Economic Review*, 20, 367-388.
- LOKSHIN, M. & SAJAIA, Z. 2004. Maximum likelihood estimation of endogenous switching regression models. *Stata Journal*, 4, 282-289.
- MAJUMDER, A., RAY, R. & SINHA, K. 2012. Calculating rural-urban food price differentials from unit values in household expenditure surveys: a

comparison with existing methods and a new procedure. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 94, 1218-1235.

- MELO, P. C., ABDUL-SALAM, Y., ROBERTS, D., GILBERT, A., MATTHEWS, R., COLEN, L., MARY, S. & PALOMA, S. G. Y. 2015. Income Elasticities of Food Demand in Africa: A Meta-Analysis. *Joint Research Center of The European Union*.
- MINTEN, B. & BARRETT, C. B. 2008. Agricultural technology, productivity, and poverty in Madagascar. *World Development*, 36, 797-822.
- MORRIS, M. L. 2007. Fertilizer use in African agriculture: Lessons learned and good practice guidelines, World bank Publications.
- MUHAMMAD, A., SEALE, J. L., MEADE, B. & REGMI, A. 2011. International evidence on food consumption patterns: an update using 2005 international comparison program data.
- MUZARI, W., GATSI, W. & MUVHUNZI, S. 2012. The impacts of technology adoption on smallholder agricultural productivity in sub-Saharan Africa: A review. *Journal of Sustainable Development*, 5, 69.
- OECD .2016. "Agriculture in Sub-Saharan Africa: Prospects and challenges for the next decade", in OECD-FAO Agri. Outlook 2016-2025, OECD Publishing, Paris.
- PESARAN, M. H., SHIN, Y. & SMITH, R. J. 2001. Bounds testing approaches to the analysis of level relationships. *Journal of applied econometrics*, 16, 289-326.
- RODRIK, D. 2016. An African growth miracle? *Journal of African Economies*, 27, 10-27.
- SASSI, M. & CARDACI, A. 2013. Impact of rainfall pattern on cereal market and food security in Sudan: Stochastic approach and CGE model. *Food policy*, 43, 321-331.
- SCHLENKER, W. & LOBELL, D. B. 2010. Robust negative impacts of climate change on African agriculture. *Environmental Research Letters*, 5, 014010.
- SHEAHAN, M. & BARRETT, C. B. 2017. Ten striking facts about agricultural input use in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Food policy*, 67, 12-25.
- SHONKWILER, J. S. & YEN, S. T. 1999. Two-step estimation of a censored system of equations. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 81, 972-982.
- SMALE, M., KUSUNOSE, Y., MATHENGE, M. K. & ALIA, D. 2016. Destination or distraction? Querying the linkage between off-farm work and food crop investments in Kenya. *Journal of African Economies*, 25, 388-417.
- STIGE, L. C., STAVE, J., CHAN, K.-S., CIANNELLI, L., PETTORELLI, N., GLANTZ, M., HERREN, H. R. & STENSETH, N. C. 2006. The effect of climate variation on agro-pastoral production in Africa. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103, 3049-3053.
- SUBRAMANIAN, S. & DEATON, A. 1996. The demand for food and calories. *Journal of political economy*, 104, 133-162.

THORNTON, P. K., JONES, P. G., ERICKSEN, P. J. & CHALLINOR, A. J. 2011. Agriculture and food systems in sub-Saharan Africa in a 4 C+ world. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, 369, 117-136.

TIMMER, C. P. & ALDERMAN, H. 1979. Estimating consumption parameters for food policy analysis. *American journal of agricultural economics*, 61, 982-987.

- TOL, R. S. 2010. The economic impact of climate change. *Perspektiven der Wirtschaftspolitik*, 11, 13-37.
- WASHINGTON, R., HARRISON, M., CONWAY, D., BLACK, E., CHALLINOR, A., GRIMES, D., JONES, R., MORSE, A., KAY, G. & TODD, M. 2006. African climate change: taking the shorter route. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, 87, 1355-1366.
- WOOD, S. A., JINA, A. S., JAIN, M., KRISTJANSON, P. & DEFRIES, R. S. 2014. Smallholder farmer cropping decisions related to climate variability across multiple regions. *Global Environmental Change*, 25, 163-172.

WORLD BANK. 2012. Sub-Saharan Africa Poverty and Equity Data. Accessed January 16, 2018

YEBOAH, K., AND T. S. JAYNE (2015, forthcoming), "Employment Trends in Sub-Saharan Africa: The Evolving Role of Agriculture", International Development Working Paper, Michigan State University, East Lansing.

ZENG, D., ALWANG, J., NORTON, G. W., SHIFERAW, B., JALETA, M. & YIRGA, C. 2015. Ex post impacts of improved maize varieties on poverty in rural Ethiopia. *Agricultural Economics*, 46, 515-526.

# Acknowledgements

"...For the grace of God has appeared, bringing salvation to all human kind. And I am a man, isn't it?.....So then I was saved by Lord Almighty and by His grace I am at this exceptional stage of my academic life". By His mercies, I have come to realize my dream by attaining the highest and advanced form of education. In the three and half-year journey, there were "hilly and smooth" moments, and I am thankful for the never-ending love and abundant mercies of God in my life. My special gratitude goes to my PhD supervisor Professor Yves Surry and deputy supervisors, Professor Ranjula Bali Swain and Dr. Jean Chrysostome Ngabitsinze, for their guidance, assistance, constructive comments and overall assistance throughout my PhD studies here at the Department of Economics, SLU. Particularly, Professor Yves Surry, I am very grateful for the exceptional supervision that led me to where I am now. Warm thanks to the project team members. Specifically, I would like to acknowledge Professor Almas Heshmati for accepting to be my opponent. Also, special appreciations to the evaluation committee members; Professor Jesper Stage, Professor Akiko Suwa-Eisenmann and Professor Clas Eriksson: thank you for kindly accepting this assignment. I would particularly like to thank Olivier Habimana, with whom I co-authored Paper II, and Justice Tei Mensah (Paper III), for agreeing to work with me: I fully acknowledge your immense, insightful and outstanding contributions in coauthoring with me.

This study journey was only possible through the bilateral collaboration between the University of Rwanda and the Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA). In this respect, I would like to send my special thanks to Dr. Lars Drake and Dr. Ewa Wredle for their trust in me during the hiring process and for all their engaged support that made my study dreams become true.

Further, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to members of the Department of Economics in SLU, who have always been supportive of my professional development through my participation in conferences, courses *etc.* Special thanks to Birgitta Noren, Anna Eriksson, Emma Arias Olsson and Mikaela Lönn, who were always ready to assist me with administrative and logistical issues. I would also like to warmly acknowledge the support and friendly work environment with the current and past members of the Agricultural

and Food Economics research group (Professor Helena Hansson, Tina Ericson, Shvam Kumar Basnet, Chrvsoula Morfi, Wei Huang; Assem Abouhatab, Professor Hans Andersson, Professor Konstantinos Karantininis, Professor Sebastian Hess, Jerker Nilsson, Tsegave Ginbo Gatiso, Franklin Amuakwa-Mensah and Ruben Hoffmann) and to other members of the Economics Department at large; I thank you all. Special thanks to Andrea for making my first day here at SLU so smooth – you deserve a special place in my heart. Other notable members who have been of immense help to me include Professor Carl-Johan Lagerkvist for insightful and constructive comments on Paper I during my half-time seminar; Justice Tei Mensah and his wife, George Marbuah and his wife, Shyam and his wife and Franklin and his wife. Justice, thanks for the continuous gentle advice, both academic and extra-curricular activities. I have immensely benefited from you; those times taking me to the gym and Church really helped. Furthermore, my appreciation to other members of the department: Professor Rob Hart, Professor Ing-Marie Gren, Torbjörn, Ashkan, Nina Lind, Ida Nordin, Sarah, Gordana, Per-Anders, Efthymia, Micaela, Richard, Katarina Elofsson, Elizabeth and others. I also want to express gratitude to my colleagues and close colleague PhD students: Marguerite, Florence, Maximilian, Olive, Jean Baptiste, Alphonsine, and Léon, you have all been so helpful to me during my studies. To all PhD students at the Department of Economics (Abenezer, Wondmagegn, Suvi, Annie, Uliana, Jonathan, Katarina, Julian and Tobias), I would like to say thank you for helping me so graciously. Further, to my classmates at the Department of Economics, Uppsala University (Arnaldur Stefansson, Cristina Bratu, Daniel Jahnson, Maria Sandström, Mathias von Buxhoeveden, Peter Wikman, Stefano Lombardi), I was honoured to be with you (one academic year) and I deeply thank you for all gracious support during my stay at the department.

My heartfelt gratitude to the University of Rwanda, for enormous support. In particular, I want to say thanks to Dr. Simon Rukera Tabaro, Karara, Charles Gakomeye, Raymond, Claudine, Oreste, Dr. Sylvie Mucyo, Dr. Antoine Karangwa, Dr. Laetitia Nyinawamwiza, Michel Ndahimana, Claude Bicakungeri, Grace and Elie (Rubilizi); without you, I wouldn't be here now. I would also like to recognize and thank a number of public institutions and people outside the Department of Economics: I wish to acknowledge the tremendous support from the Tanzanian Bureau of Statistics, Ugandan Bureau of Statistics and National Institute of Statistics of Rwanda. Without your generous collaboration, it would not have been possible to achieve this stage of my thesis. Specifically, I want to thank Mr. Venant Habarugira, Mr. Tetus Mwisonda, Patrick Okello and Nivimpa Edgar who directly helped me to have data access and other related logistics in the different public institutions. I would also like to express my heartfelt thanks to the people whom I met during my studies and who have become my close friends. I may even not mention your name here due to space constraints, but be sure I have you deep in my heart: Tommie and Amalia (Uppsala), Wisdom (UPC Barcenola), Olum Solomon (Ghent University, Belgium), Charles Mgeni (ZALF Leibniz-Zentrum, German) Faustin Habyarimana (University of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa).

This thesis would never have been written without the emotional and spiritual support of several people. First and foremost my best dear friend and wife. Pétronille, was constantly at my side to cherish and strengthen me physically and emotionally. Special gratitude to my darling children: Christelle, Chris and Kevin Aimable, for your patience in waiting for a reply to your question "Dad when are you going to finish your studies and stay with us?" I hope this question will soon be answered fully. I would also like to thank my family members: Mum Marceline, my siblings Hajeba, Kabeyi, Harema and Ngirimana for their endless love, guidance and support. Deep thanks also to the Firmin family, Remy family, Rubanda family, John family, Mr. Edouard, Ms. Laurence, Sr. Virginie, Ms. Solange and her family, Umuryango Remezo Saint Paul, Chorale II Est Vivant, for all your countless support in my life, I thank you and dedicate to you this academic achievement. I want also to thank the people of the Redeemed Christian Church of God, Uppsala (Pastor Bola and her family, Mama, Mwenyah, Raymond, Paul, Richard, Naomi, Diane, Josephine, Solome, Kelvin etc.), with whom I have practised and nurtured my faith during these past three and a half years, God Bless you all.

Finally, I would like to thank all my former teachers: Mr. Ruyoka (Kizinga primary school), Late Ms. Mukagatare (Kiyombe primary school), Kazigaba (Muyumbu primary school), Mr. Ndahiro (APAPEDUC Bungwe), Mr. Kayumba Gervais (College de Rushaki), Dr. J. D. Gumirakiza (Western Kentucky University, USA) and Mr. Muraya Anthony at University of Rwanda, College of Education (former Kigali Institute of Education, KIE).

To all of you, I would say "Mukama Abebembere"

Aimable Nsabimana Uppsala, June 2018